S271869

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CHEVRON U.S.A., INC., et al.

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

vs.

COUNTY OF MONTEREY, et al.

Defendants;

PROTECT MONTEREY COUNTY and DR. LAURA SOLORIO

Intervenors and Appellants.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H045791

Appeal from a Judgment Entered in Favor of Plaintiffs Monterey County Superior Court Case No. 16-CV-3978 and consolidated cases Honorable Thomas W. Wills, Judge

INTERVENORS' OPENING BRIEF

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does Public Resources Code section 3106 impliedly preempt provisions LU-1.22 and LU-1.23 of Monterey County's initiative "Measure Z"?

INTRODUCTION

For more than a century, local governments and the state have shared regulatory authority over oil and gas drilling and production in California. Cities and counties have determined whether and where to allow oil and gas activities within their jurisdictions, and the courts have repeatedly upheld their power to do so. The state, in turn, has adopted a scheme of technical and safety regulations governing drilling where local governments allow it to occur. Over time, the Legislature has shifted the primary purpose of state regulation from preventing waste of oil and gas to protecting health, safety, water, and the climate. Yet the Legislature has never once precluded local governments from exercising their police power to prohibit some or all oil and gas operations, in some or all locations, within their boundaries.

The Court of Appeal's opinion below upends this centuryold balance of power. Seizing on a handful of words in Public Resources Code¹ section 3106, the court held that Monterey County's Measure Z—a land use measure that prohibits the drilling of new oil and gas wells and land uses associated with oilfield wastewater disposal in unincorporated areas of the

¹ All further undesignated statutory references are to the Public Resources Code.

County—conflicts with state law. (*Chevron U.S.A., Inc., v. County* of Monterey (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 153.)² According to the Court of Appeal, Measure Z cannot stand because it interferes with section 3106's grant of authority to permit, and desire to encourage, certain "methods and practices" of oil and gas extraction.

In so holding, the Court of Appeal failed to follow this Court's rules for determining whether a local enactment conflicts with general state law. The court disregarded the threshold rule for preemption analysis: the strong presumption against preemption applicable to traditional land use measures like Measure Z. Moreover, under any of this Court's preemption tests, Measure Z does not conflict with section 3106. Measure Z is not "contradictory" or "inimical" to section 3106 because section 3106 does not mandate anything Measure Z prohibits; indeed, section 3106 does not mandate that the state approve, or that any oil and gas operator employ, any particular method or practice of extraction. Nor does section 3106 evince any clear legislative intent to occupy the field of oil and gas regulation, either as a whole or only as to the conduct of oil and gas operations. Further, Measure Z dictates *where* new wells and wastewater-related land uses are prohibited—in unincorporated Monterey County—not *how* those operations take place.

Rather than follow this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeal concluded that Measure Z frustrates section 3106's

² Citations to the Court of Appeal's "Opinion" in this brief are to the slip opinion attached to the Petition for Review.

purpose of encouraging oil and gas production. This conclusion echoes an "obstacle" preemption theory, imported from federal law, that numerous federal courts have criticized as vague, subjective, and corrosive to the separation of powers, and that this Court has never explicitly adopted. But even if this Court were to adopt obstacle preemption—which it need not and should not do here—Measure Z would still be valid. The purposes of section 3106 and the statutory scheme have evolved over time to prioritize health, safety, environmental protection, and achievement of the state's climate goals—goals that require California to move away from fossil fuels, not extract every remaining drop of oil from the ground. Measure Z does not frustrate these purposes.

Indeed, Measure Z is consistent with how California's local governments have regulated oil and gas for more than a century pursuant to their land use power, which derives from the inherent police power reserved in article XI, section 7 of the Constitution. As amici curiae the League of California Cities and California State Association of Counties demonstrated below and in their letter supporting this Court's review, local governments have adopted a range of approaches—from permit streamlining to outright prohibition—depending on local conditions. Variability among cities and counties is a strength, not a weakness, of California's scheme.

Affirmance of the Court of Appeal's opinion would not only upend California's time-tested system of oil and gas regulation, it also would require equally radical changes in this Court's decades-old approach to preemption. Intervenors Protect Monterey County and Dr. Laura Solorio thus respectfully request that this Court confirm its long-standing preemption jurisprudence and reverse the judgment below.

STATUTORY BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

A. Section 3106 guides state oil and gas regulation, but it does not mandate any specific practices or restrict local authority.

Section 3106(a) requires the state oil and gas supervisor to "supervise the drilling, operation, maintenance, and abandonment of wells" and associated production facilities "so as to prevent, as far as possible, damage to life, health, property, and natural resources[,]" damage to underground oil and gas deposits, "loss of oil, gas, or reservoir energy," and "damage to underground and surface waters suitable for irrigation or domestic purposes." (§ 3106, subd. (a).) Subdivision (c) furthers these goals by allowing the supervisor to require monitoring of ground- and surface-water contamination from aboveground tanks and facilities.³

Section 3106(b) also authorizes the supervisor to allow a range of production techniques if consistent with the purposes of subdivision (a). Specifically, the supervisor "shall *also* supervise the drilling, operation, maintenance, and abandonment of wells so as to permit the owners or operators of the wells to utilize all methods and practices known to the oil industry for the purpose

³ For the convenience of the Court, the full text of section 3106 is attached as Exhibit A hereto.

of increasing the ultimate recovery of underground hydrocarbons and *which, in the opinion of the supervisor, are suitable* for this purpose in each proposed case." (*Id.*, subd. (b) (italics added).) Section 3106(b) also establishes that where otherwise silent, private oil and gas leases are interpreted to allow operators to use certain specified "methods or processes" for removing hydrocarbons, including injection of water and other substances and application of heat, "when these methods or processes have been approved by the supervisor." (*Ibid.*) However, "nothing contained in this section imposes a legal duty ... to conduct these interpretive rules, which apply only absent "an express provision to the contrary" in a lease or contract. (*Ibid.*)

By its plain terms, therefore, section 3106 "encourage[s] the wise development" of oil and gas resources in a manner that prevents damage to health, property, natural resources, and water quality. (*Id.*, subds. (a), (d).) It neither commands the supervisor to allow, nor requires any operator to carry out, any particular extraction method or practice. Nor does it declare a policy encouraging maximum production of oil and gas. Rather, section 3106 issues guidance to the supervisor in supervising an environmentally risky activity.

B. The statutory text on which the appellate court decision turned does not override the statute's environmentally protective purposes.

The Court of Appeal found that the language of subdivision (b), added to section 3106 in 1961, was "critical" to its conclusions. (Opinion at p. 10; see AA[27]6495-6496⁴ (Stats. 1961, ch. 2074, § 1).) That language—which clarifies the supervisor's qualified authority to approve new extraction methods addressed concerns about declining oil production; it expressly authorizes the supervisor to allow certain "secondary recovery operations" (i.e., the "methods and practices" for increasing oil and gas production discussed in Section 3106(b)). (See RJN[2]A:102⁵ [noting that "secondary recovery operations" are "becoming more important each year as California's production declines," and that the amendments will "assist" operators in their use].) Neither the text nor the legislative history of the 1961 amendment contains any discussion of local authority to regulate oil and gas, let alone any discussion of circumscribing that authority. (RJN[2]A:19-145.)

At the time of the 1961 amendments, the supervisor had "already been doing work" to permit secondary recovery operations, but the law did not clearly support the supervisor's authority to do so. (RJN[2]A:99; see also RJN[2]A:102 [noting that the amendments "correct some defects in existing law and ... add new language beneficial to the oil industry"].) The amendments "merely provide[d] the necessary authorization" to the supervisor to continue. (RJN[2]A:99.)

⁴ Citations to the Appellant's Appendix are in the form "AA[Volume Number]page number."

⁵ Citations to Intervenors' Motion Requesting Judicial Notice, filed concurrently with Intervenors' Opening Brief, are in the form "RJN[Volume Number]Exhibit letter:page number."

The amendments did not require the supervisor to permit, or any operator to carry out, secondary recovery operations. Only methods that are "suitable ... in each proposed case" could be permitted. (§ 3106, subd. (b).) What is "suitable," moreover, is determined by reference to the protective purposes of subdivision (a). (See § 3106, subd. (b) [stating that the supervisor "shall *also* supervise the drilling, operation, maintenance, and abandonment of wells," in language parallel to that in subd. (a)] (emphasis added).)

The 1961 amendments also clarified that oil and gas leases silent about secondary recovery techniques would be "deemed" to allow them. (RJN[2]A:28; § 3106, subd. (b).) The lease interpretation provision, however, did not convey any rights. While an early version of the 1961 amendment stated that leases silent about secondary recovery operations "include[] the right" to conduct such operations, later versions eliminated the reference to rights and instead proposed that such leases should be "deemed to allow" those operations. (RJN[2]A:22.) Moreover, even that allowance was limited to only those "methods or processes" that have been "approved by the supervisor." (§ 3106, subd. (b).) The Legislature also expressly clarified that section 3106 does not "impose[] a legal duty" to conduct secondary recovery operations. (*Ibid*.)

The Legislature has amended section 3106 several times since 1961. These amendments steadily increased the section's

16

emphasis on environmental protection.⁶ None of the amendments limited or even referenced local authority. For example, in response to the 1969 Santa Barbara oil spill, the Legislature required the supervisor to do everything possible to prevent "damage to life, health, property, and natural resources." (AA[27]6506 (Stats. 1970, ch. 799, p. 1514, § 1); RJN[3]B:220 [explaining the bill's origins in the "Santa Barbara oil spill disaster in early 1969"].)

In 1972, the Legislature added what is now subdivision (d) to section 3106, directing the supervisor to "administer this division so as to encourage the wise development of oil and gas resources." (AA[27]6523 (Stats. 1972, ch. 898, p. 1595, § 7).) The bill was intended to "strengthen[] the role of [CalGEM]⁷ in dealing with environmental problems." (RJN[6]C:456, 462; see also RJN[6]C:435 [stating that the new provisions were "necessary to allow [CalGEM] to deal effectively with present day problems confronting the petroleum industry," including "the need for authority to control and mitigate environmental problems such as auxiliary wells, disposition of water, and requirements of notice before work on a well commences"].) The Legislature further amended section 3106 in 1989 and 1994 to expand the supervisor's authority over tanks, pipelines, and other

⁶ As far back as 1939, section 3106 addressed protection of water quality. (See AA[27]6456 (Stats. 1939, ch. 93, p. 1111, § 3106).)

⁷ This brief refers to the California Division of Geologic Energy Management ("CalGEM") by its current name rather than its former name (the Division of Oil, Gas and Geothermal Resources, or "DOGGR"). (See Opinion at p. 10, fn. 11.)

production facilities and to allow the supervisor to require water quality monitoring. (§ 3106, subds. (b), (c); Stats. 1989, ch. 1383, § 2; Stats. 1994, ch. 523, § 3).

In sum, even if the 1961 amendments were intended to "encourage" the use of secondary recovery operations or increase the "percentage" of oil recovery in some fashion (see RJN[2]A:100), the Legislature neither mandated any such operations nor created any right or duty to carry them out. Moreover, any modest "encouragement" of extraction in the 1961 version of section 3106 has been outweighed by the environmentally protective purposes of later amendments.

C. Section 3106 must be interpreted in light of a century of caselaw preserving local authority to prohibit oil and gas development.

The adoption and amendment of California's oil and gas statutes, including section 3106, occurred against a judicial background confirming local authority to regulate and prohibit oil and gas development. In 1925, this Court recognized local governments' "unquestioned" right to use their police power to regulate oil and gas operations. (*Pacific Palisades Assn. v. City of Huntington Beach* (1925) 196 Cal. 211, 217.) Subsequent cases affirmed that authority. (See, e.g., *Marblehead Land Co. v. City of Los Angeles* (9th Cir. 1931) 47 F.2d 528, 532; *Friel v. County of Los Angeles* (1959) 172 Cal.App.2d 142, 157.) Based on the same reasoning, courts have upheld local governments' power to entirely prohibit oil and gas within their jurisdictions. (*Hermosa Beach Stop Oil Coalition v. City of Hermosa Beach* (2001) 86 Cal.App.4th 534, 555; see also *Wood v. City Planning Com.* (1955) 130 Cal.App.2d 356, 364.)

Cases in this line have directly addressed state oil and gas statutes. In Beverly Oil Co. v. City of Los Angeles (1953) 40 Cal.2d 552, 555, this Court upheld an ordinance prohibiting drilling and deepening wells in certain zones. The Court acknowledged that "[t]he policy in this state favors the conservation of oil deposits through statutory regulation" and that the people of the state "have a 'primary and supreme interest' in oil deposits," but "[n]evertheless" held that "city zoning ordinances prohibiting the production of oil in designated areas have been held valid." (Id. at p. 558 [citing Pub. Resources Code div. 3, ch. 1 and quoting § 3400].) In Higgins v. City of Santa Monica (1964) 62 Cal.2d 24, this Court similarly held that state statutes governing oil leases on tide and submerged lands did not abrogate an initiative ordinance that prohibited all oil and gas exploration citywide; notwithstanding state law, the city retained the right to determine whether tide and submerged lands should be developed for oil and gas in the first place. (Id. at pp. 27, 31-32.)

The Legislature "is deemed to be aware of existing laws and judicial decisions construing the same statute in effect at the time legislation is enacted, and to have enacted and amended statutes in the light of such decisions as have a direct bearing upon them." (*People v. Castillolopez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 322, 331 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).) Despite numerous cases upholding local authority to prohibit oil and gas activities, the Legislature has never limited that authority.

D. Other statutory provisions acknowledge and preserve local regulatory authority and promote environmental protection.

Indeed, when the Legislature has spoken, it has acknowledged and preserved local authority. For example, section 3012 expressly acknowledges that cities may prohibit "the drilling of oil wells." (§ 3012 [acknowledging the division's application to "any land or well situated within … an incorporated city in which the drilling of oil wells is now or may hereafter be prohibited."].) The Legislature first recognized this authority in 1915. (AA[27]6451 (Stats.1915, ch. 718, p. 1419, § 53).)

The Legislature also adopted an express *non-preemption* clause in 1971, making clear that its adoption of a new chapter of code "shall not be deemed a preemption by the state of any existing right of cities and counties to enact and enforce laws and regulations regulating the conduct and location of oil production activities." (§ 3690.) The non-preemption clause thus acknowledged and expressly preserved local governments' already "existing" power to regulate both the "conduct and location" of oil production activities against any claim that the new chapter had a preemptive effect. Had the Legislature intended the 1961 amendment of section 3106 to preclude local regulation of either the "conduct" or "location" of oil and gas activities, there would have been no "existing right of cities and counties" for the Legislature to preserve in 1971.

The Legislature again preserved local regulatory authority when it adopted state rules for well stimulation in Senate Bill 4

20

(Stats. 2013, ch. 313). First, the Legislature stated that SB 4 did not relieve "any [government] agency from complying with any other provision of existing laws, regulations, and orders." (§ 3160, subd. (n).) The Assembly Floor Analysis of the bill confirms this clause was intended in part to preserve local governments' ability to "enforce [their] own approval authority." (AA[16]3802-03.) Second, SB 4 expressly preserved local lead agencies' ability to review well stimulation activities under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). (§ 3161, subd. (b)(3)(C).) Because CEQA requires review only where agencies have discretionary authority to approve or carry out a project (see § 21065), SB 4's preservation of local CEQA review authority necessarily acknowledges local power to allow, condition, or deny well stimulation operations. Finally, CalGEM's regulations implementing SB 4 acknowledge that "local agencies" have "jurisdiction over the location" of well stimulation activities. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 1782, subd. (a)(9).)

Most recently, the Legislature specifically acknowledged local land use authority over the drilling of new wells. Section 3203.5, adopted in 2021, requires that operators include "a copy of the local land use authorization that supports the installation of a well" in a notice of intent to drill a new well filed with the supervisor under section 3203.

The Legislature has also continued to strengthen protections for the public, climate, and environment throughout the statute, including by adding section 3011 in 2019. That section includes among the overall purposes of state oil and gas regulation "protecting public health and safety and environmental quality, including reduction and mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions associated with the development of hydrocarbon and geothermal resources in a manner that meets the energy needs of the state." (§ 3011, subd. (a).) Section 3011 also directs the supervisor to coordinate with state agencies and others "in furtherance of the goals of the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006 ... and to help support the state's clean energy goals." (§ 3011, subd. (b).) Although section 3106 had long prioritized environmental protection, section 3011 removes any doubt that the statutory purposes include protecting public health, reducing greenhouse gas emissions, and supporting clean energy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The voters' adoption of Measure Z.

Monterey County historically authorized oil and gas operations under open-ended use permits. (AR[1]122.)⁸ These permits purported to allow operators to drill new wells without County oversight or environmental review. (*Ibid.*) Concerned that the County's lax regulation exposed them to adverse impacts of oil production, residents petitioned the County for stronger regulations, but the Board of Supervisors refused. (*Ibid.*)

The proponents of Measure Z believed the County's failure to act threatened significant local interests. The County relies heavily on groundwater and the Salinas River watershed, where

⁸ Citations to the Administrative Record are in the form "AR[Volume Number]page number."

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