No. S271869 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CHEVRON U.S.A., INC., et al.

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

COUNTY OF MONTEREY, et al.

Defendants:

PROTECT MONTEREY COUNTY and DR. LAURA SOLORIO

Intervenors and Appellants.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H045791 Monterey County Superior Court Case No. 16-CV-3978, (and consolidated cases) The Honorable Thomas Wills

RESPONDENT CHEVRON U.S.A. INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

THEODORE J. BOUTROUS, JR.,
Bar No. 132099
WILLIAM E. THOMSON,
Bar No. 187912
DIONE GARLICK, Bar No. 293012
GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER, LLP
333 South Grand Avenue, 54th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90071

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

This complex system of statewide regulations is comparable to the "statewide licensing schemes, exceptions, and exemptions dealing with the possession and use of handguns," which the *Fiscal* court found to preempt a local ordinance prohibiting private and public handgun possession. (*Fiscal, supra,* 158 Cal.App.4th at p. 909.) Like the local ordinance in *Fiscal,* Measure Z prohibits activities expressly regulated by the State. Here too, Measure Z's ban on specific production methods, including wastewater injection and drilling new wells, "completely frustrate[s] a broad,

evolutional statutory regime enacted by the legislature." (*Id.*, at p. 911.)

Indeed, here, the Legislature has expressly codified that the State "encourages" wise oil and gas production and, as a policy of the State, that DOGGR must permit oil and gas operators to use all reasonable methods of production, including wastewater injection. (§ 3106, subds. (b), (d).) The State's expressed purpose to encourage these activities, as opposed to simply regulating them, necessarily means that Measure Z's attempt to ban these activities would frustrate the stated objectives of the state law. (Cf. *Great Western Shows*, *supra*, 27 Cal.4th at p. 868 [finding no preemption where the state law lacks the "stated purpose of promoting or encouraging" an activity, as opposed to simply regulating an activity].)

Even section 3011, the provision that Intervenors claim proves that the "statutory scheme as a whole" contains "environmentally protective purposes" (Interv. Br. at p. 57), only identifies the purpose of "protecting health and safety and environmental quality" insofar as it is done "in a manner that meets the energy needs of the state." (§ 3011, subd. (a), italics added.) The Legislature's direction in section 3011 that DOGGR shall "coordinate . . . in furtherance of the goals of the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006," in addition to DOGGR's other obligations, likewise does not undermine the purpose of

section 3106 to "encourage the wise development of oil and gas." (§ 3011, subd. (b).) These dual purposes must be considered in conjunction with one another as DOGGR regulates oil and gas operations.³

As the court of appeal correctly found, the legislative history of section 3106 "is consistent" with the plain language of the statute, which mandates that DOGGR permit certain methods and practices and encourage the production of oil and gas. (Opn. at p. 9.) The key language, subdivision (b), was added to section 3106 in 1961. The legislative history is clear that this provision was "added to assist and encourage the oil industry in the use of secondary recovery operations," with the ultimate goal to "assure maximum recovery of underground hydrocarbons." (RJN[2]A:100; RJN[2]A:99.) The Legislature added the language subdivision (d) in 1972, for the purpose of "strengthen[ing] the role [DOGGR] dealing with environmental problems." in (RJN[6]C:456.)

Despite Intervenors' claim that changes to other laws have transformed the regulatory regime into a legislative policy that

The executive orders regarding climate and clean energy goals referenced by Intervenors are wholly irrelevant to the stated goals in Section 3106 and have no bearing on the stated purpose of the *Legislature* (nor any of the Governors referenced by Intervenors) in section 3106. (See Interv. Br. at p. 58, fn. 18.)

elevates environmental protection above all without regard to other policies of the State, the history of Section 3106 is clear and longstanding: the Legislature has not substantively altered Section 3106 since adding these provisions in 1961 and 1972, respectively. (See Interv. Br. at pp. 57–59.) And the Legislature plainly added those provisions with the purpose of encouraging the production of oil and gas and increasing the role of DOGGR in regulating oil and gas operations. Intervenors cannot identify a single provision or portion of legislative history that mandates or encourages a reduction in oil and gas production or supports removing authority from DOGGR and placing it in localities. (See *ibid.*)

4. Section 3106 does not preserve any local authority to regulate methods of production.

The plain conflict between Measure Z and section 3106 is made further apparent by the lack of any express reservation of local authority in state law. The terms of section 3106 delegate authority to the State and make no mention of local authority to further regulate the methods of oil and gas production. Intervenors argue—as they did unsuccessfully before both the superior court and the appellate court—that local authority was preserved in the adoption of section 3690 and section 3160, subdivision (n). (Interv. Br. at pp. 20–21.) The court of appeal correctly rejected this argument.

Section 3690 provides that "[t]his chapter [chapter 3.5] shall not be deemed preempted by the state of any existing right of cities and counties to enact and enforce laws and regulations regulating the conduct and location of oil production activities, including, but not limited to, zoning, fire prevention, public safety, nuisance, appearance, noise, fencing, hours of operation, abandonment, and inspection." (§ 3690.) By its own terms, section 3690 is limited only to Chapter 3.5, which concerns "unit operations" and does not include Section 3106. Section 3690 governs only "unitized" oil fields, which is not relevant here and therefore section 3690 has no impact on non-unitized production. "Thus, section 3690's provision that *chapter 3.5* does not preempt local regulations provides no support for the proposition that *section 3106* does not preempt local regulation of oil drilling operational methods and practices." (Opn. at p. 12.)

Intervenors also point to a provision included in SB 4—the law adopted exclusively to govern fracking operations—to argue that the Legislature intended to preserve local authority. (Interv. Br. at pp. 20–21; see section 3160, subd. (n).) The court of appeal again rejected this argument, because the "narrow scope of section 3160, subdivision (n)" "applies only to well stimulation and concerns the obligations of DOGGR and other agencies. Nothing in that subdivision implicates the provisions of section 3106, subdivision (b) that we find preempt Measure Z." (Opn. at p. 12.)

The court then made the same finding as to section 3161, subdivision (b)(1)(C), which "is also limited to well stimulation and does not explicitly or implicitly grant local entities the power to regulate anything other than well stimulation, which is not at issue in this appeal." (Opn. at p. 13.) In any event, the SB 4 EIR reveals not only that there is no evidence of a preservation of local authority, but that DOGGR's regulations are so comprehensive as to preempt any additional regulation of subsurface activities. The SB 4 EIR finds: "DOGGR has exclusive legal jurisdiction over, and thus 'occupies the field' regarding subsurface regulation. This means that no other State or local agencies can impose regulations or mitigation on top of those by DOGGR in that context." (12:AA 2902 at C.2-44.)

Finally, Intervenors reference the requirement that oil and gas operators submit "a copy of the local land use authorization that supports the installation of a well" with a notice of intention to begin drilling. (Interv. Br. at p. 45, citing § 3203.5, subd. (a).) Contrary to Intervenors' claim, this provision does not reserve any authority for local governments to regulate the production techniques employed in extracting petroleum, but merely places another requirement on the operators to provide information that the production operations are consistent with the permissible land uses as regulated by local zoning laws. In no way does this

provision imply that a local government could regulate oil and gas production methods.

5. The court of appeal applied the correct preemption standard.

Intervenors argue, despite the obvious and irreconcilable conflict between Measure Z and section 3106, that Measure Z is not preempted because "section 3106 does not mandate that either the state or local governments allow any particular methods and practices." (Interv. Br. at p. 35.) In support, Intervenors argue that the court of appeal misapplied the "test for determining whether a local measure is 'contradictory' or 'inimical' to general law," which they claim is that a local law is not preempted "unless the challenged local ordinance 'directly requires what the state statute forbids or prohibits what the state enactment demands." (*Id.*, at p. 34.) This is not correct.

While a local law that prohibits something state law requires would certainly be preempted, this specific scenario is not the exclusive way a local law can conflict with state law so as to be preempted. Justice Liu's concurrence in *City of Riverside* addresses this issue directly, to "clarify the proper test for state preemption of local law." (*City of Riverside, supra,* 56 Cal.4th at p. 763 (conc. opn. of Liu, J.).) The concurrence first notes the refrain oft quoted by Intervenors that contradictory and inimical preemption is established where "the ordinance directly requires

what the state statute forbids or prohibits what the state enactment demands." (*Ibid.*) Justice Liu goes on to clarify that a "more complete statement of conflict preemption" is found in federal obstacle preemption, which "no doubt applies to California law." (*Id.* at p. 764.) The concurrence concludes by summarizing the key distinction: "Local law that prohibits an activity that state law intends to promote is preempted, even though it is possible for a private party to comply with both state and local law by refraining from that activity." (*Ibid.*)

Justice Liu's concurrence is consistent with cases applying conflict preemption. As the *Fiscal* court noted, while the state law at issue there "d[id] not mandate that local governments permit such sales[,]" the local regulation was preempted because a ban on the sales allowed by state law makes the two laws "irreconcilable." (*Fiscal*, *supra*, 158 Cal.App.4th at pp. 914–915.) Instead, "here the state and local acts are . . . so inconsistent that the two cannot have concurrent operation." (*Ibid.*, citation omitted.) As found in *Fiscal*, *City of Riverside*, and *Great Western Shows*, it is sufficient for preemption that the local law frustrate the purpose of the state law, which local laws may improperly do by banning an activity that the state law encourages.

The court of appeal correctly rejected Intervenors' argument regarding the legal basis for establishing preemption, finding that Intervenors "misread[] the authorities" upon which they rely.

(Opn. at p. 17.) Intervenors rely upon three cases in support: (1) Big Creek Lumber Co. v. County of Santa Cruz (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1139; (2) City of Riverside, supra, 56 Cal.4th 729; and (3) T-Mobile West LLC v. City and County of San Francisco (2019) 6 Cal.5th 1107. These cases do not necessitate a different result.

In *Big Creek*, Santa Cruz County adopted a series of ordinances "amend[ing] County[] zoning laws to restrict timber harvesting operations to areas zoned for timber production, mineral extraction industrial, or parks, recreation and open space." (*Big Creek Lumber Co.*, , *supra*, 38 Cal.4th at p. 1146.) A lumber company filed suit against the County arguing that state forestry statutes preempted the local zoning ordinances. This Court ruled that state law did not preempt the ordinances. (*Ibid.*) First, the Court noted that the state law contained an express preemption provision that preempted only the "conduct of timber operations," but, elsewhere in the state statute, "it is clear that the Legislature has deferred a number of important zoning decisions to local authority." (*Id.*, at pp. 1151, 1153.)

Here, as the court of appeal notes, "Measure Z is not a local zoning ordinance that simply regulates the location of oil drilling operations. Instead it bans particular methods and practices." (Opn. at p. 19.) Indeed, Measure Z's impact would go beyond a typical zoning ordinance. If the County were to enforce it, Measure Z would prohibit the specific enhanced recovery

techniques that Chevron relies upon to operate the field. Measure Z would prohibit Chevron from reinjecting any produced water, which is a necessary operational technique required to safely and efficiently dispose of the vast amounts of salty, low-quality water produced with the oil. (9:AA 2244, 2256 [Tubbs Decl., ¶¶ 32, 54].) Similarly, Measure Z would prohibit Chevron from drilling new wells, a technique that is necessary to maintain the integrity of the steam chest. (9:AA 2250 [Tubbs Decl., ¶ 45].)

For these reasons, the court of appeal found that "Big Creek is consistent with our analysis." (Opn. at p. 19.) The court of appeal went on to note that "Measure Z forbids the State from permitting certain methods and practices, while section 3106 encourages [them] and mandates that the State be the entity deciding whether to permit those methods and practices." (Ibid.) Further, "[t]he conflict here, unlike the situation in Big Creek, is not limited to a general State policy encouraging oil drilling and a local ordinance restricting where drilling may take place." (Ibid.)

Intervenors next argue that *City of Riverside* compels a finding that Measure Z is not preempted. (Interv. Br. at pp. 36–37.) In *City of Riverside*, this Court rejected a claim that a state statute preempted local land use ordinances that prohibited medical marijuana dispensaries. The Court found that, despite some lofty statements in the state statute at issue, the Compassionate Use Act ("CUA"), regarding its "purposes," CUA's

actual substantive provisions were cabined to decriminalization. (City of Riverside, supra, 56 Cal.4th at 759–760.) The Court found that CUA "is a limited measure" that "creates no comprehensive scheme for the protection or promotion of facilities that dispense medical marijuana." (Id., at pp. 760–761, fn. 12.) The substantive provisions of the CUA "simply remove[d] specified state-law sanctions from certain marijuana activities" and therefore did not preempt the local ordinance. (Id. at pp. 759–760.)

In contrast, section 3106 mandates that certain oil recovery techniques be permitted, including wastewater injection, and that DOGGR must enforce the law in a way so as to promote and increase the ultimate recovery of hydrocarbons. Where the CUA only decriminalized certain activities related to marijuana use and cultivation, which the local regulations did not address, here Measure Z directly bans activities that section 3106 substantively permits, encourages, and designates as within the State's power to permit.

Intervenors also attempt to rely on *T-Mobile*, in which a group of telecommunication companies challenged a San Francisco ordinance that limited the placement of telecommunications equipment based on the aesthetic impact. The plaintiffs argued that the ordinance was preempted by state law that provided that telephone corporations "may construct . . . telephone lines along any public road . . . in such manner and at such points as not to

incommode the public use of the road or highway." (*T-Mobile, supra*, 6 Cal.5th at p. 1115.) This Court, however, held that the state statute did not preempt the local ordinance because the "statute and the ordinance can operate in harmony" since the statute simply "ensures that telephone companies are not required to obtain a local franchise, while the Ordinance ensures that lines and equipment will not unreasonably incommode public road use." (*Id.* at p. 1125.)

T-Mobile is distinguishable on its face. In T-Mobile, the state statute contained no mandate as to any specific state policies, but section 3106 expressly sets forth specific state policies that Measure Z frustrates. Further, the ordinance in T-Mobile was not a prohibition on any activities deemed to be permissible by the State, and the local ordinance governed placement of the telephone poles based on aesthetic attributes. Here, Measure Z bans activities the State has expressly deemed to permit, and Measure Z's regulations are simply substantive regulations of oil and gas operations, unrelated to any land use considerations.

The court of appeal thus correctly rejected Intervenors' interpretation of *T-Mobile*: "In *T-Mobile*, unlike here, the state statutes made no mention of the subject matter addressed by the local ordinance so there was no conflict." Here, in sharp contrast, section 3106 "explicitly places" "in the hands of the state" "the authority to permit" certain methods and practices banned by

Measure Z. (Opn. at p. 18.) And "[i]t is not possible for the authority to permit these methods and practices to rest in the State's hands if the local ordinance forbids these methods and practices," and thus the two laws conflict. (*Ibid.*)

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